THE FLORIDA BAR

Re: ADVISORY OPINION

HRS NONLAWYER COUNSELOR

### Objections to Proposed Advisory Opinion From The Florida Bar Standing Committee on Unauthorized Practice of Law

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

JUN 22 1987

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 70,615

By

### INITIAL BRIEF OF THE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND REHABILITATIVE SERVICES

B. ELAINE NEW
Assistant General Counsel
Department of HRS
1323 Winewood Blvd.
Tallahassee, FL 32399-0700
(904) 488-2381
Fla. Bar No. 354651

JAMES A. SAWYER, JR. District VII Counsel Suite 911 400 W. Robinson Orlando, FL 32801

COUNSEL FOR THE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND REHABILITATIVE SERVICES

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Florida Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services (HRS) sought an opinion from The Florida Bar Standing Committee on Unauthorized Practice of Law on the following question:

> Is the preparation of documents by lay counselors and the presentation of noncontested dependency Court cases by lay counselors, including the filing of documents, presentation of the case, request for relief and testimony of counselors the unauthorized practice of law?

This request was presented to the Unauthorized Practice of Law Committee as a result of an order issued by Judge Gladstone in <u>In the Interest of T.P. and D.C.</u>, Case No. 85-16019 FJ 09. (Fla. 11th Cir. Ct.). In an order in that case, Judge Gladstone found that HRS dependency counselors are engaged in the unlawful practice of law. HRS filed an appeal in that case. (Case No. 86-2248, Fla. 3rd DCA). HRS agreed to dismiss the appeal when Judge Gladstone modified the order. Under the modified order, HRS is required to have affidavits of diligent search reviewed by counsel in HRS District 11. As a result of this action, HRS filed this request with The Florida Bar's Unauthorized Practice of Law Committee.

The Committee took testimony and written comments from Judge Gladstone, HRS, State Attorneys and others. The Committee issued its proposed advisory opinion on May 27, 1987. These objections are filed in opposition to that opinion.

The Committee concluded that HRS dependency counselors are authorized to prepare, sign and file detention petitions, affidavits of diligent search and predisposition reports. See App. A at 21.<sup>1</sup> Under the Committee's proposed opinion, HRS would be required to have lawyers prepare or supervise the preparation of all other documents. Additionally, HRS counselors could not appear in Court hearings without a lawyer. This proposed opinion departs significantly from current practice.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All references are to the Appendix to the Proposed Advisory Opinion.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Since the issue in this proceeding is whether activity by non-lawyer "authorized agents of the department" in the dependency process is or should be the unauthorized practice of law, the "facts" in this proceeding, in addition to the specific activities in dependency cases, are the constitutional, statutory, and decisional law under which this activity takes place.

It has been ongoing practice, accepted by the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, the State Attorneys, Juvenile Courts, and others involved, that HRS lay counselors prepare and present in Court noncontested dependency cases before the Juvenile Court. That practice has a long history.

The juvenile courts are specialized descendants of the courts of equity. These courts early assumed and exercised broad parens patriae powers for the protection of orphans and their property, and this power has been expanded by statute to create the present-day juvenile courts. <u>See</u>, Torcia, <u>Wharton's</u> <u>Criminal Procedure</u>, The Juvenile Court, Section 7 (1974). In Florida the Juvenile Court is now a division in the circuit courts, and has exclusive original jurisdiction over actions for "dependency", as that term is defined. See Section 39.01(9), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1986).

The juvenile courts also have exclusive original jurisdiction over most law violations by minors. This "delinquency" jurisdiction was created by statute in response to

the public perception that children who broke the law should be treated differently than adults; children should receive rehabilitation rather than punishment. The boundaries of delinquency jurisdiction and the degree of emphasis on treatment over punishment, have shifted from time to time as the Legislature has directed.

Prior to 1951 the law regarding juveniles was a morass of general and special acts which will not be analyzed, because in 1951 the Legislature codified this law. Chapter 26880, Laws of Florida (1951), rewrote Chapter 39, Florida Statutes, extensively repealing other general and special laws "...to the end that, except as provided herein specified, the law relating to juvenile courts shall be uniform through the state." Chapter 26880, Laws of Fla. (1951). The purpose of the Legislature in enacting the juvenile courts act was to provide a forum which would consider the problems of dependent children in an informal fashion without the necessity of applying the technicalities that are a part of routine litigation. <u>In re M,</u> 176 So. 2d 600 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1965).

Chapter 39 provided that the juvenile court would employ a counselor and assistant counselors who would perform various services for the court, including investigating reported cases of dependency and delinquency. Ch. 26880, Laws of Fla. (1951). These counselors were specifically authorized to file petitions for dependency and delinquency and they were not required to be lawyers. Ch. 26880, Laws of Fla. (1951).

The first version of HRS was created in 1969 as a collection of largely autonomous Divisions, including the Division of Youth Services and the Division of Family Services. In Chapter 71-130, Section 3, Laws of Florida, authorized agents of the Division of Family Services were given equal authority with the juvenile court counselor to investigate dependency cases, and authorized agents of the Division of Youth Services were given similar authority regarding delinquency.

It is significant that the authority to file these juvenile petitions was given not to the Divisions themselves, nor to HRS, but to "authorized agents" of these divisions. The State Attorney is not mentioned in this 1971 law; no statute requires or permits the State Attorney to prosecute juvenile cases in 1971.

Juvenile courts were implicitly authorized by the 1914 Amendment to Article V, Section 1 (Fla. Const., 1885), which contained a clause granting the Legislature general power to create courts. In 1950, shortly before the 1951 rewrite of Chapter 39, Article V, Section 50 of the 1885 Constitution was adopted, which specifically authorized the Legislature to create juvenile courts. With technical changes only, this section was readopted in 1956, and ultimately became Article V, Section 12 of the Constitution of 1968. The 1956 revision of Article V, also included juvenile courts in the catalogue of authorized courts in Section 1. In the 1972 revision of Article V, effective January 1, 1973, the circuit courts were given juvenile jurisdiction and separate juvenile courts were abolished.

In Article V, Section 20, the Schedule, savings clauses appear in Subsections (b) and (g), providing that existing laws and rules of court (b), and provisions of Article V, Constitution of 1885, as amended, (g), not inconsistent with the revised Article, remain in force until modified.

In 1973 the Legislature extensively rewrote Chapter 39, and for the first time gave a prosecuting attorney for the government a role in juvenile court. The newly created State Attorneys were directed to give legal advice to HRS; Chapter 73-231, Section 10, Laws of Florida; and are given the right to file petitions for delinquency; while the right of the HRS intake officer to file petitions for dependency was specifically preserved. Ch. 73-231, s. 11, Laws of Fla. The State Attorney was directed to represent the state in delinquency proceedings, and also in those dependency proceedings "when a party denies the allegations of the petition and contests the adjudication." Ch. 73-231, s. 11, Laws of Fla. That section also provides that if either proceeding is uncontested, the case may proceed to disposition and the State Attorney need not be present. Most (but not all) State Attorneys interpret these statutes to preclude their further participation in contested dependency cases once the adjudicatory and disposition hearings are concluded.

If a child is found dependent, there will typically be several post-disposition hearings. These will include at a minimum the periodic judicial reviews and, for children in foster care, a review of the performance agreement or plan. These

hearings may be contested or not, and may be simple or involved. HRS is seldom represented by lawyers at these hearings.

Some dependency cases lead to actions for permanent commitment for subsequent adoption. Section 39.41, Fla. Stat. (1985). In these proceedings HRS is represented by counsel, and the parents have a (Florida Constitutional) right to appointed counsel if they are indigent. <u>In the Interest of D.B. and D.S.</u>, 385 So.2d 83 (Fla. 1980).

Thus prior to 1973 government-employed social workers were the representative of government in the investigation, preparation and prosecution of all juvenile actions, both dependency and delinquency. In Chapter 73-231, Laws of Florida the responsibility for prosecution of delinquencies and contested dependencies was transferred to the State Attorney. The remaining responsibilities and duties of the social worker (by whatever name) have not been changed or reassigned. These workers, now called "authorized representatives (or agents) of the department" continue to file papers and present them to the juvenile court, under the authority which they have continuously possessed since at least 1951. This Court has never exercised its rule-making power to abolish or alter this practice.

Today dependency cases are brought under Part III of Chapter 39, Florida Statutes (1985 and 1986 Supp.). Under the dependency provisions "authorized agents of the department" routinely prepare, file and present various petition, motions and other papers in juvenile court. An authorized agent of the

department means "a person assigned or designated by the department to perform duties or exercise powers pursuant to this Chapter". Section 39.01(5), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1986). HRS dependency counselors are authorized agents of the department under Chapter 39. HRS dependency counselors often perform their functions without the assistance of counsel. The appearance of counsel representing HRS in dependency cases is the exception rather than the rule.

In a typical dependency case, HRS receives a report of abuse or neglect pursuant to Section 415.501-.514, Florida Statutes (1985). That report is investigated by an HRS Single Intake worker. The investigation must begin within 24 hours. If the report is indicated the intake worker will take appropriate action. This may include providing the family with voluntarilyaccepted services, or removal of the child and subsequent court action.

If a child is removed, the juvenile court must make a probable cause determination within 24 hours. A Detention Petition is filled out by the intake worker on an attorneyprepared form. At the detention hearing (probable cause hearing, first appearance) the court is advised by the intake worker of the investigation to date and the reason for removal. Parents may attend these hearings and often do so; when the child is picked up the parent is advised when the hearing will occur (either that day or the next day). If the child is not returned at the detention hearing, a detention order is issued by the court. The detention petitions and orders are Florida Rules of

Juvenile Procedure Forms 8.904 and 8.906, or local variations of these forms.

If the parents cannot be found, an affidavit of diligent search is executed by the person who did the search, listing the efforts made to locate the parents. Section 39.405(6), Fla. Stat. (1985).

A petition for dependency is prepared, usually by the intake worker, on Florida Rules of Juvenile Procedure Form 8.908. This form is designed so that by inserting only factual information, the petition establishes the court's jurisdiction and the parents or custodian of the child. Section 39.404(1), Florida Statutes (1985), permits agents of HRS to file these petitions, and requires the State Attorney to review them for legal sufficiency.

If the child is picked up, the petition for dependency must be filed within seven days, and the arraignment held within 14 days. Sections 39.402(11), 39.404(3), 39.408(1), Fla. Stat. (1985). If the child has been detained, the adjudicatory hearing (trial) must be held within seven days of the arraignment. Section 39.408(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (1985).

At every hearing the court must review the continued detention of the child, Section 39.402(13), Florida Statutes (1985), and advise the parents of their right to have counsel present. Fla. R. Juv. P. 8.560(a). The court may also consider requests for medical, psychological or drug evaluations on parents or child, and may receive requests from parties or other relatives regarding visitation or change of custody, or for continuances.

In at least one circuit a "waiver and consent" form is available for use. This form, prepared by an attorney, waives representation by counsel and consents to adjudication of dependency. In Dade County, this form may be offered by HRS counselors, who read the document to the parents. Some parents sign it, some do not. If signed, the document is presented to the court by an HRS intake worker at the arraignment or other hearing. The court may inquire into the waiver, and may or may not accept it.

Prior to adjudication, a contested or uncontested case may be resolved by a Plan for Treatment, Training and Conduct. This is essentially a "pretrial diversion" of the family, on conditions tailored for the particular case (supervision, parenting classes, drug programs, psychological counseling, etc.) under conditions expressed in Florida Rules of Juvenile Procedure Form 8.911. The plan itself may be drafted by an HRS intake worker, and presented to the court in lieu of an adjudicatory hearing. Section 39.404(5), Fla. Stat. (1985).

The adjudicatory hearing is the trial of a contested case. At these hearings the petition is prosecuted by the State Attorney. Section 39.404(4), Fla. Stat. (1985).

In both contested and uncontested hearings an adjudication of dependency is followed by a Disposition Hearing. Section 39.408(3), Fla. Stat. (1985). HRS submits a written Pre-Disposition Report (PDR), and in uncontested cases may present and explain this report to the court, without counsel. Section 39.404(5), Fla. Stat. (1985). This PDR includes a recommended disposition of the case, which is not binding on the court.

Following adjudication and disposition, various post-trial hearings may occur. This post-trial phase of the case is usually the longest portion of the case, and often the most important, as this is the phase of the case where rehabilitation of the family is attempted.

If the child is placed in foster care, a performance agreement or plan is prepared in accordance with Section 409.168, Florida Statutes (1985)<sup>2</sup> This document is prepared by an HRS counselor and offered to the parents and other parties. Agreed changes may be made, and the court has the power to resolve any impasse in the negotiations of this agreement. If the parents refuse to participate, or cannot be found, HRS files a unilateral performance plan.

These agreements or plans recite the reason the child is in foster care, and what is to be done, and by whom, to get the child out of foster care. These documents impose performance obligations on the family and the agency, e.g., to provide and to take parenting classes, to obtain employment or housing, to provide assistance in application for public assistance benefits, etc. Sanctions are imposed only by the court, and HRS must recommend return of the children to the parents upon substantial compliance with the agreement. The parents are warned that permanent commitment of the children and subsequent adoption may be sought if the parents do not substantially comply.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This section has been moved to Chapter 39. <u>See</u> HB 1408, 1987 Session.

The court is required to conduct a judicial review of each foster care case every six months. A petition for review and a social study summary are prepared by the HRS counselor and filed with the court. These hearings review the progress of the case, and can result in the child being sent home, or modification of the performance agreement or plan, or placement of the child with a relative, or the decision to begin permanent commitment proceeding. At the hearing, HRS is seldom represented by counsel. If representation is provided it is not through the State Attorney, but by HRS counsel.

Incidental post-trial motions may be presented at any time, by the HRS counselor or other party. There may be motions to create, modify or enforce visitation rights of parents or others, to change custody from HRS to a relative, to send the child home, to place the child for mental health treatment, or any other matter requiring judicial action. These matters may or may not be contested. They are heard as provided by the Rules of Juvenile Procedure.

Finally, the counselor may file motions to terminate supervision or jurisdiction, (usually without an attorney) or HRS may begin an action for permanent commitment for subsequent adoption (always with an attorney).

Aside from constitutional limitations, dependency is largely a matter of state law. The most significant federal intrusion not of a constitutional nature is Public Law 96-272, the Adoption Assistance and Child Welfare Act of 1980. This Act authorizes federal funding for adoption and child welfare

services which comply with federal requirements in the dependency process. This Act formed the basis for the revisions to Section 409.168, Florida Statutes enacted by Chapter 84-311, Laws of Florida.

The federal law imposes a number of requirements upon states, including periodic judicial review of foster care cases. Federal funds may be withheld from a state which does not comply with the six-month periodic review requirement. See <u>Lynch</u> <u>v. King</u>, 550 F.Supp. 325, 355 (D. Mass. 1982). The federal act requires procedural safeguards but does not require representation by attorneys.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

HRS dependency counselors are not engaged in the unauthorized practice of law. This Court is given the authority to limit practice before juvenile courts to licensed attorneys but it has not done so. The historical role of the juvenile justice system supports the use of nonlawyer HRS counselors in the dependency process.

The functions that HRS dependency counselors perform should not be considered "practicing law". The traditional test for determining whether an activity constitutes the practice of law is not met here. The HRS counselor does not perform functions for another party, but rather acts on behalf of the department. Unlike a corporation the department is not an entity that can appear in court only through counsel.

In addition to the traditional test for determining whether an activity constitutes the practice of law, this Court has considered the fluid nature of the definition of practicing law. The purpose of regulating the practice of law is to protect the public. Having an HRS counselor perform their traditional functions in dependency cases does not harm the public.

If this Court finds that the functions of HRS counselors constitute practicing law, it should find that those functions are authorized.

The Rules of Juvenile Procedure govern practice in dependency proceedings. The Rules provide for "authorized agents of the department", or "persons" or "parties" to prepare, sign and file all documents in dependency proceedings. The Rules

should be read to authorize HRS to perform all these functions through dependency counselors.

The functions of dependency counselors are also authorized under Chapter 39, Florida Statutes. The Legislature is not exceeding its authority by adopting procedures in Chapter 39. When this Court adopted the Rules of Civil Procedure, it adopted special statutory proceedings as rules. Chapter 39 evidences a clear legislative intent to provide a special statutory proceeding for juvenile cases. This Court adopted Chapter 39 as a special statutory proceedings when it adopted the Rules of Civil Procedure. Since Chapter 39 authorizes the functions of the HRS counselor, and it has been adopted as a Rule, the counselors cannot be engaged in the unauthorized practice of law.

Additionally, Article V, Section 20(b) preserves existing provisions of law. The law in juvenile proceedings has authorized these functions by lay persons since at least 1951. The only area where representation is required is in contested adjudicatory hearings. Since the law has not been changed, it is preserved. Therefore, the historical functions of dependency counselors is authorized.

If this Court rejects arguments that HRS dependency counselors are not engaged in the unauthorized practice of law, this Court should by rule authorize these functions. When deciding unauthorized practice of law issues, this Court sits as the judicial system's chief policy maker. The policy of protection of the public, the role of the state, the fiscal

impact upon the state and the negative impact upon the dependency system all support the department's position that the functions of dependency counselors should be authorized. I. HRS DEPENDENCY COUNSELORS ARE NOT "PRACTICING

LAW."

This Court has previously adopted the following guideline to determine what actions constitute the practice of law.

> In determining whether the giving of advice and counsel and the performance of services in legal matters for compensation constitute the practice of law it is safe to follow the rule that if the giving of such advice and performance of such services affect important rights of a person under the law, and if the reasonable protection of the rights and property of those advised and served requires that persons giving such advice possess legal skill and a knowledge of the law greater than that possessed by the average citizen, then the giving of such advice and the performance of such services by one for another as a course of conduct constitute the practice of law.

<u>State ex rel. The Florida Bar v. Sperry</u>, 140 So.2d 587 (Fla. 1962), <u>Vacated on other grounds</u>, 373 U.S. 379 (1963); <u>on remand</u>, 159 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1963); <u>Florida Bar v. Town</u>, 174 So.2d 395 (Fla. 1965).

The activities of HRS dependency counselors do not constitute the practice of law. The definition of the practice of law requires:

 Giving of advice and performance of services by one for another.

2) The activities must affect important rights of a person under the law, and

3) The reasonable protection of those rights requires knowledge of the law greater than that possessed by the average citizen.

It is admitted that part three of this definition is met to the extent that HRS dependency counselors possess a knowledge of the law greater than that possessed by the average citizen. By definition, their job requires knowledge of dependency issues which the average citizen does not possess.

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