IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR

Re: ADVISORY OPINION

HRS NONLAWYER COUNSELOR

AUG 7 1987

Salv J. Rettill

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 70,615

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR STANDING COMMITTEE ON UNLICENSED PRACTICE OF LAW

Robert M. Sondak, Chairman 200 S.E. 1st Street Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 358-9300

Mary Ellen Bateman UPL Counsel The Florida Bar Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 222-5286

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Proposed Advisory Opinion found that HRS case workers are untrained and ill equipped to practice law in dependency cases, thereby causing extensive harm to abused and neglected children in this state. It is precisely this sort of harm which this Court's regulation of the practice of law is designed to avoid.

HRS case workers are not authorized to practice law in dependency cases. They are not appearing <u>pro</u> <u>se</u>, but rather in a representative capacity. Accordingly, except to the extent a

specific rule of this Court authorizes case workers to do so, they may not prepare and sign pleadings, present the legal position of HRS in Court, or otherwise practice law in dependency cases. With the exceptions noted in the Proposed Advisory Opinion, this Court has not granted HRS case workers exemption from the restrictions on the practice of law which are established to safeguard the public.

None of the legal or factual arguments made by HRS justify a ruling that case workers are authorized to practice law in dependency cases. Accordingly, the conclusions of the Proposed Advisory Opinion should be sustained.

ARGUMENT

The legal arguments made by HRS in its Brief were, for the most part, addressed in detail in the Proposed Advisory Opinion. (Appendix A) The UPL Committee will not repeat the legal analysis found on pages 11-21 of the Opinion, and will limit its comments in this Brief to additional material which is relevant to the legal arguments made by HRS.

Ι

HRS CASE WORKERS ARE PRACTICING LAW

In its brief in this Court, HRS renews the argument it made to the UPL Committee that the actions of its case workers are not the practice of law because case workers only represent themselves in dependency cases. In the Proposed Advisory Opinion, the UPL Committee rejected the argument that HRS case workers are acting <u>pro</u> <u>se</u>, rather than in a representative capacity, when they appear in court to pursue dependency cases.

The HRS Brief exposes the contradiction in its argument. While arguing that the HRS case workers are appearing pro se, giving the impression that an HRS case worker is representing his own private interests, the HRS Brief does admit (at page 20) that "in carrying out the dependency functions, HRS counselors are acting on behalf of the State." Also, the HRS Brief states (at p. 48) that "HRS dependency counselors are engaged in an important public function..."

As the Proposed Advisory Opinion discusses, the important public policy which is carried out by HRS case workers is to represent the best interests of the child and family unit. This Court explained, in <u>In the Interest of D.B.</u>, 385 So.2d 83, 93 (Fla. 1980), that it is the function of HRS "to safeguard the interests of the child" in dependency cases. This Court made that statement in the context of determining whether there was a constitutional requirement for the appointment of counsel as guardian <u>ad litem</u> for a nine month old child. This Court held that there was no such requirement "since the proceedings were instituted by HRS to protect the interests of the child, and there were no factors here which would justify the appointment of

a guardian ad litem in addition to HRS to safeguard the interests of the child." 385 So.2d at $93.\frac{4}{}$

The argument made by HRS that it is not practicing law because, in effect, it is appearing pro se is completely inconsistent with this Court's opinion in In the Interest of D.B., supra, and with the arguments made by HRS in Point II of its brief in this Court. It is apparent to the UPL Committee that HRS case workers act in a representative capacity, just as they do in delinquency cases, and as a result the actions of HRS are within the definition of the practice of law as outlined by this Court in The Florida Bar v. Brumbaugh, 355 So.2d 1186, 1191 (Fla. 1978) and State ex rel The Florida Bar v. Sperry, 140 So.2d 587, 591 (Fla. 1962), vacated on other grounds, 373 U.S. 379 (1963).

II THE PRACTICE OF LAW BY HRS CASE WORKERS IS NOT AUTHORIZED

HRS argues in its Brief that "this Court has never exercised its rule making power to abolish or alter [the] practice" of HRS case workers pursuing dependency cases in court. (HRS Brief at 7) HRS is wrong. This Court exercised that power in Rule 2.060(a), Rules of Judicial Administration, which states

This Court also explained that "dependency proceedings exist to protect and care for the child that has been neglected, abused or abandoned." 385 So.2d at 90.

that "all persons in good standing as members of the Florida Bar shall be permitted to practice in Florida." Rule 2.010, Rules of Judicial Administration, specifically states that the Florida Rules of Judicial Administration apply "in all courts to which the rules are applicable by their terms.... These rules shall supercede all conflicting rules and statutes." There is no doubt that the Rules of Judicial Administration apply to dependency 2.085(d), Rules of Judicial Rule cases. See, e.g., Administration, which specifies time limitations in dependency cases.

This Court further exercised its rule making power regarding HRS case workers by adopting the 1984 revisions to the Rules of Juvenile Procedure. In those Rules, this Court specifically authorized agents of HRS to sign detention petitions, Rule 8.710(a)(5), and make a diligent effort to notify the parent or the child of the detention hearing. custodian of To this extent, this Court authorized conduct which 8.710(b). would otherwise be in conflict with Rule 2.060, Rules of Judicial Administration. However, the Rules of Juvenile Procedure otherwise prohibit HRS case workers from practicing law in dependency See Rule 8.640, which states that pleadings must be cases. signed by attorneys other than parties appearing pro se. significant that under Rule 8.630(d)(6), authorized agents of HRS may serve pleadings and sign a certificate of service, while under Rule 8.640, the pleading itself must be signed by an attorney. Rule 8.640 explains the key distinction that

"The signature of an attorney shall constitute a certificate by him that he has read the paper or pleading; that to the best of his knowledge, information, and belief there is good ground to support it; and that it is not interposed for delay."

This Rule emphasizes the importance of lawyer supervision over and responsibility for the pleadings filed in court in dependency cases.

HRS argues that whenever the Rules of Juvenile Proceeding make reference to a "party," that reference authorizes HRS case workers to practice law in dependency cases. (HRS Brief at 24-This argument, however, proves too much, for throughout the 25) Rules of Civil Procedure, Rules of Appellate Procedure, and other rules promulgated by this Court, the term "party" is often The courts of this state have never interpreted the term "party" to permit an entity such as HRS to appear in representative capacity without an attornev proceedings. To the contrary, this Court and the district courts of appeal have consistently held that in the absence of specific authority, such as Rule 7.050(a)(2), Small Claims Rules, an entity must be represented by counsel in court. See, The Florida Bar v. Moses, 380 So.2d 412, 416 (Fla. 1980); Magnolias Nursing and Convalescent Center v. Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, 428 So.2d 256 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982); Quinn v. Housing Authority of the City of Orlando, 385 So.2d 1167 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980). $\frac{5}{}$

HRS argues in its brief that it should be allowed to practice law because guardians ad litem are allowed to do so in dependency cases. (HRS Brief at 26-27) HRS is wrong. Guardians ad litem are specifically precluded from practicing law in dependency cases. Rule 8.590(f), Rules of Juvenile Procedure.

HRS also argues that what it does is no different than non-lawyers who draft contracts. (HRS Brief at 27) This Court has held that the preparation of legally binding agreements for another person is the unauthorized practice of law. E.g. The Florida Bar v. Columbia Title, 197 So.2d 3 (Fla. 1967).

Daniel Dawson, Chairman of the Juvenile Rule Committee, testified that the 1984 revisions to the Juvenile Rules specifically used the term "authorized agent of HRS" in those few instances where the Rules Committee wished to authorize HRS case workers to practice law in court in dependency proceedings. (Appendix D) On June 11, 1987, the Juvenile Rule Committee voted to approve the conclusions of the Proposed Advisory Opinion, and reject a rule change proposed by HRS which would have given blanket authority for HRS case workers to prepare pleadings and appear in court in dependency cases.

this rule change permits its case workers to prepare performance agreements to be signed by a parent. (HRS Brief at 26) This is incorrect. First, the recent rule change on its face does not cover legal documents such as performance agreements. Second, Florida Statute § 409.168(3) outlines the requirements of a performance agreement, indicating that it is not a routine form, but rather a complex legal document defining the rights and obligations of the parent, child, HRS, and guardian ad litem. Absent a specific rule of this Court authorizing the preparation of such a significant legal document by a non-lawyer, existing case law requires that a lawyer representing HRS be responsible for the preparation of that document.

HRS argues in this Court that Article V Section 20(b) of the Florida Constitution provides authorization for HRS case workers to practice law in dependency cases. That provision, adopted on January 1, 1973, states:

"Except to the extent inconsistent with the provisions of this article, all provisions of law and rules of court in force on the effective date of this article shall continue in effect until superseded in the manner authorized by the constitution."

HRS does not cite any cases which support its interpretation of this provision of the Florida Constitution, nor does the text of that section assist HRS. Moreover, whatever bearing this provision had on the laws and rules in effect in 1972, it has no bearing on the current dependency statutes and rules, as Chapter 39, Florida Statutes was completely re-written in 1978 and again

in 1984, and this Court issued a complete revision to the Rules of Juvenile Procedure in 1984. Furthermore, HRS' argument is inconsistent with Article V Section 2 of the Constitution, which specifies that this Court is the sole rule making body "for the practice and procedure in all courts," and nothing in the rules adopted by this Court has ever authorized HRS to practice law in dependency cases.

HRS reiterates the argument it made at the time of the hearings on the Proposed Advisory Opinion that dependency cases are "special statutory proceedings" and that, as a result, Chapter 39 Florida Statutes can and does authorize non-lawyers to practice law in dependency cases. The Proposed Advisory Opinion (Appendix A at 16-18) rejects this argument. Unlike the few recognized special statutory proceedings, dependency cases are not a creature of statute, but rather, as HRS admits, a "descendant of the courts of equity." (HRS Brief at 3) The Fifth District Court of Appeal, in In the Interest of J.S., 444 So.2d 1148 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984) explained that

"In Florida, the circuit judge acting as juvenile judge has succeeded to all of that exceptional common law jurisdiction of the courts of chancery to act on the court's own volition to protect the interests of infants." 444 So.2d at 1149-50.

Accordingly, dependency proceedings are not "special statutory proceedings." $\underline{6}$

CONCLUSION

The record in these proceedings reflect the serious public harm which has been inflicted on children of this state as a result of HRS case workers practicing law in dependency cases. The speculation in the HRS Brief (at 38-39, 41) that lawyers will not improve the quality of practice in dependency cases is refuted by the record.

This Court has explained that

"The single most important concern in the Court's finding and regulating the practice of law is the protection of the public from incompetent, unethical or irresponsible representation." The Florida Bar v. Moses, 380 So.2d 412, 417 (Fla. 1980).

On this record, the conclusion of the Proposed Advisory Opinion that HRS case workers are not authorized to practice law in dependency cases should be sustained by this Court.

Furthermore, on this record, there is no justification for this Court to issue a proposed rule which would authorize HRS

As the Proposed Advisory Opinion outlines, even if dependency proceedings were a special statutory proceeding, the 1984 revisions to the Rules of Juvenile Procedure did not intend to adopt Chapter 39 as rules of this Court. Accordingly, the Rules issued by this Court, rather than any legislation, provides the sole authority for authorizing HRS case workers to practice law in dependency cases. See Proposed Advisory Opinion at 13-15.

case workers across the board to practice law in dependency cases. The Juvenile Rules Committee has specifically rejected such a proposed rule, and the record in this case strongly suggests that such a proposed rule would inflict further harm on the children of this state.

It is essential for HRS to train its case workers in the in dependency functions those individuals serve cases. However, such training is not a substitute for the training received by law students, the rigorous bar examinations graduates of law schools must pass, the code of professional uphold, the Continuing responsibility lawyers must Education requirements of this Court, and the grievance machinery which safeguards the public from unscrupulous and incompetent lawyers.

The UPL Committee agrees that HRS should be given sufficient time to implement the advisory opinion issued by this Court, and to seek appropriate funding from the legislature. The possibility that the legislature will be unresponsive to the requirements of an advisory opinion issued by this Court is not a sufficient reason to continue to inflict public harm on children of this state.

The UPL Committee respectfully requests that the Court adopt the conclusions of its Proposed Advisory Opinion.